STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Orangeburg County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge
—————

RECEIVED

Apr 12 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ADRIENNE RANDOLPH,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000788
—————

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR judge erred in signing the order of dismissal that made findings of fact, conclusions of law, and credibility determinations where the judge was a successor judge who did not preside over the PCR hearing and did not comply with the requirements of Rule 63, SCRCP, prior to signing the order?

STATEMENT

In January of 2014, the Orangeburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Adrienne Randolph, for murder. App. 60-61. The state, represented by Harrison Bell, called the case to trial before the Honorable Maite Murphy and a jury during the December 2015 term of General Sessions Court. App. 1; App. 37, ll. 1-2. Petitioner was represented by Carl Grant. App. 1. On December 16, 2015, Petitioner stopped the trial¹ and entered a guilty plea to the lesser included charge of voluntary manslaughter. App. 1; App. 3, ll. 10-13.

Judge Murphy accepted Petitioner's plea and sentenced her according to the negotiated plea deal to a term of imprisonment for eighteen years and six months, with credit for time served both in custody and on house arrest. App. 14, ll. 5-17. Petitioner appealed her conviction and sentence; however, the appeal was dismissed on March 10, 2016, pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR. App. 18; App. 24.

On December 15, 2016, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief alleging, *inter alia*, that her guilty plea was involuntary. App. 17-23. The state filed a return and partial motion to dismiss dated July 25, 2017. App. 24-30. An evidentiary hearing was convened before the Honorable Kristi Harrington on December 12, 2017. App. 31. The state was represented by Ruston Neely. Petitioner was represented by Art Aiken. App. 32. At the conclusion of the hearing Judge Harrington took the matter under advisement and requested that counsel send her proposed orders. App. 51, ll. 1-3.

Judge Harrington retired from the bench on June 30, 2018. While it is unclear if proposed orders were ever sent to Judge Harrington for consideration, the record reflects that the

¹ Counsel for Petitioner has confirmed with the Attorney General's Office that the transcript of Petitioner's partial trial has never been ordered, is not in existence, and was not before the PCR court.

order of dismissal that was eventually signed was prepared in 2017² while Judge Harrington was still an active member of the bench. App. 59. Importantly, Judge Harrington did not make any oral rulings or factual findings during the PCR hearing.

An order of dismissal was eventually signed by the Honorable Edgar Dickson on April 3, 2020, almost two years and four months after Petitioner's PCR hearing had been held. App. 53-59. Even though Judge Dickson did not preside over the PCR hearing, the order of dismissal he signed contained witness credibility findings, along with findings of fact and conclusions of law. App. 53-59. Specifically, the order of dismissal stated,

This Court reviewed the record in its entirety, *listened* to the testimony given, and *heard* the arguments presented at the evidentiary hearing. This Court has further had the *opportunity to observe the witnesses* presented at the hearing, *closely pass upon their credibility* and weigh their testimony according. *This Court finds Counsel's testimony was credible and persuasive.* Therefore, this Court dismisses Applicant's application for the reasons set out below.

App. 55 (emphasis added).

According to an e-mail provided by the State, Judge Dickson was provided with the transcript of Petitioner's PCR hearing, along with the order of dismissal, on December 4, 2019. App. 53. The e-mail does not discuss whether Judge Dickson was provided with the plea transcript or any of the other records in the case. Additionally, the record is devoid of any attempt to comply with the requirements of Rule 63, SCRCF.

² The last line of the order of dismissal shows that the original year of 2017 was written over and changed to 2020. App. 60.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in signing the order of dismissal that made findings of fact, conclusions of law, and credibility determinations where the judge was a successor judge who did not preside over the PCR hearing and did not comply with the requirements of Rule 63, SCRPC, prior to signing the order.

Judge Harrington presided over Petitioner's original PCR hearing. Six months after Petitioner's PCR hearing, Judge Harrington retired from the bench without ever issuing an order in Petitioner's case. Nearly two and a half years after Petitioner's PCR hearing a successor judge improperly signed an order of dismissal which contained credibility findings. Further, the successor judge never certified familiarity with the record and the parties were not given an opportunity to request the recall of any of the PCR witnesses. Based on Rule 63, SCRPC, and the interpretation of that rule in both state and federal courts, Petitioner is entitled to a new PCR hearing.

The appellate courts of this state have yet to consider the impact of Rule 63, SCRPC, on an order arising from a PCR hearing. However, federal case law interpreting the rule and state case law interpreting the rule as it was written prior to 2004 are instructive. Prior to the 2004 amendment, Rule 63 SCRPC, provided:

If by reason of death, sickness, or other disability, a judge before whom an action has been tried is unable to perform the duties to be performed by the court under these rules after a verdict is returned or findings of fact and conclusions of law are filed, then the resident judge of the circuit or any other judge having jurisdiction in the court in which the action was tried may perform those duties; but if such other judge is satisfied that he cannot perform those duties because he did not preside at the trial or for any other reason, he may in his discretion grant a new trial.

The South Carolina appellate courts addressed then Rule 63 in Christy v. Christy, 347 S.C. 503, 556 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 2001), *aff'd as modified*, 354 S.C. 203, 580 S.E.2d 444

(2003). In Christy, following the dissolution of the parties' marriage, former husband filed an action to terminate or reduce spousal support alleging both that former wife had entered a common law marriage and that he had changes in his financial circumstances. Id. at 505-06, 556 S.E.2d at 702. Wife filed a counterclaim to increase support. Id. The family court bifurcated the issues and a bench trial was held on the common law marriage claim. The original judge made no oral rulings or findings during the bench trial. Id. Subsequently, the family court judge who heard the common law marriage evidence became incapacitated before signing an order. Id. A successor judge denied husband's motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 63, SCRCF, and later signed an order, based in part on a draft order submitted to the original judge, finding no common law marriage. Id. at 506-07; 566 S.E.2d at 703.

In analyzing the application of then Rule 63, SCRCF, the Court of Appeals engaged in a thorough analysis of applicable state and federal law. The Court of Appeals noted that federal courts had unanimously read into Rule 63 the negative inference "that if the presiding judge in a civil case dies or becomes disabled before the rendering of a verdict or before the judge issues his findings of fact and conclusions of law, a successor judge must retry the case." Id. at 509, 556 S.E.2d at 704 (citing Townsend v. Gray Line Bus Co., 767 F.2d 11, 17-18 (1st Cir. 1985); Arrow-Hart, Inc. v. Philip Carey Co., 552 F.2d 711, 713 (6th Cir. 1977); Emerson Elec. Co. v. Gen. Elec. Co., 846 F.2d 1324, 1325-26 (11th Cir. 1988)).

In denying husband's motion for a new trial and signing the proposed order, the successor judge relied in part on holdings in Rex Oil, Ltd. v. M/V Jacinth, 873 F.2d 82 (5th Cir.1989) and The Del-Mar-Va, 56 F. Supp. 743 (D.Va.1944). Id. at 510, 556 S.E.2d at 704. In both of those cases the successor judge denied a request for a new trial under Rule 63. Id. at 510-11, 556 S.E.2d at 704-05. On appeal, it was held that although the original judges in Rex

Oil and Del-Mar-Va had not filed written orders prior to their deaths, they had made extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law on the record sufficient to support the successor judge's decision to enter a judgment based on the record. Id. at 512, 566 S.E.2d at 705. The Court of Appeals distinguished these cases from the situation it was analyzing in Christy, finding that the original judge in Christy had not made any findings of fact or conclusions of law on the record that the successor judge could have relied upon. Id.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that two exceptions had developed to the general operation of Rule 63. The Court of Appeals wrote:

First, if all parties consent, a successor judge may make findings of fact and conclusions of law based on the trial transcript. Second, the successor judge may consider the trial transcript as akin to "supporting affidavits" for summary judgment purposes and render judgment *if no credibility determinations are required*. Emerson Elec. Co. v. Gen. Elec. Co., 846 F.2d 1324, 1326 (11th Cir.1988). *Absent consent of the parties, a successor judge cannot make credibility determinations.* Id.; see also Whalen v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 684 F.2d 272, 274 (4th Cir.1982) (finding Rule 63 communicates a positive prohibition on substitution of a judge prior to verdict where all parties have not stipulated their consent).

Christy at 512, 556 S.E.2d at 705 (emphasis added).

Applying the law to the facts of the case in Christy, the Court of Appeals held that the successor judge erred in denying husband's motion for a new trial following the incapacity of the original judge. Id. at 512, 566 S.E.2d at 705-06. The Court of Appeals held that where the successor judge did not review the transcript, where there was nothing in the record containing finds of fact and conclusions of law made by the original judge, and where the order relied on credibility determinations, the successor judge could not enter an order on the record unless the parties stipulated to the record and consented to the successor judge making such determinations. Id. The order was vacated, and the case remanded for a new trial on the common law marriage issue.

When the South Carolina Supreme Court reviewed the case, it stated:

Rule 63, SCRCPP, by its terms governs those situations where the trial judge becomes incapacitated or dies after the filing of his findings of fact and conclusions of law, but prior to the completion of post-trial acts authorized by the SCRCPP. *As the Court of Appeals found, other jurisdictions having our version of Rule 63 have derived a 'negative inference' from the language of the rule, and concluded that a new trial is mandated where, as here, the incapacity or death precedes the filing of an order. While we find no error in the Court of Appeals' analysis of the rule, nor in its suggestion that two exceptions adopted by other jurisdictions would be applicable under the appropriate circumstances, we hold that this case is governed not by any negative inference derived from Rule 63, but rather by another principle of state law.*

Christy v. Christy, 354 S.C. 203, 205–06, 580 S.E.2d 444, 446 (2003) (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court held that a new trial was required under the common law principal that “[u]ntil the paper has been delivered by the judge to the clerk of court, to be filed by him as an order in the case, it is subject to the control of the judge, and may be withdrawn at any time before such delivery.” Id. (citing Archer v. Long, 46 S.C. 292, 24 S.E. 83 (1896); see also e.g., Bowman v. Richland Mem. Hosp., 335 S.C. 88, 515 S.E.2d 259 (Ct.App.1999) (citing Archer v. Long); compare Rule 58(a), SCRCPP (“A judgment is effective only when ... entered on the record”); see also Ford v. State Ethics Comm'n, 344 S.C. 642, 545 S.E.2d 821 (2001) (“Until written and entered, the trial judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling”)).

Since the holding in Christy, Rule 63, SCRCPP, has been amended to conform to the requirements set out in Rule 63 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Currently the rule provides:

If at any time after a trial or hearing has been commenced, but before the final order or judgment has been issued, the judge is unable to proceed, a successor judge shall be assigned. *The successor judge may proceed upon certifying familiarity with the record and determining that the proceedings may be completed without prejudice to the parties. In a hearing or a trial without a jury, the successor judge shall, at the request of a party, recall any witness whose*

testimony is material and disputed and who is available to testify without undue burden. A successor judge may also provide for the recall of any witnesses.”

Rule 63, SCRCPP (emphasis added).

While the appellate courts of this state have not considered the current version of Rule 63, SCRCPP, in a published³ opinion, numerous federal courts have interpreted the rule. As stated in Mergentime Corp. v. Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority, 166 F.3d 1257, 1262 (D.C. Cir. 1999), “balancing efficiency and fairness, the new rule thus allows successor judges to avoid retrial, but only to the extent they ensure that they can stand in the shoes of the predecessor by determining that “the case may be completed without prejudice to the parties.”” Importantly, the exceptions noted by the South Carolina Court of Appeals to the old Rule 63, have been held to apply to the current version of the rule.

In Henry A. Knott, Co. v. Chesapeake & Potomac Telephone Co. of West Virginia, 772 F.2d. 78 (4th Cir. 1985) the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit held that “a successor judge simply cannot make credibility determinations based upon the record. A hearing de novo before a new successor master or before the district court *must be conducted if the case requires the trier of fact to make credibility determinations concerning the testimony of witnesses*; otherwise the parties right to a full due process hearing would be severely undercut.” Id. at 85 (emphasis added).

A significant amount of federal jurisprudence supports the proposition that a successor judge must grant a new hearing where the trier of fact is required to make credibility determinations. See Patelco Credit Union v. Sahni, 262 F.3d 897 (9th Cir. 2001) (stating that the successor judge may examine the trial transcript as if it were ‘supporting affidavits’ for summary

³ The only South Carolina case addressing current Rule 63, SCRCPP, is Hammer v. Hammer, 2008 WL 9881724.

judgment purposes and enter summary judgment if no credibility determinations are required); see also Chicago Prof'l Sports Ltd. P'ship v. Nat'l Basketball Ass'n, 95 F.3d 593, 601 (7th Cir.1996) (suggesting that on remand successor judge could decide the case on the existing record if credibility determinations were unnecessary); Emerson Elec. Co. v. Gen. Elec. Co., 846 F.2d 1324, 1326 (11th Cir.1988) (holding when a judge has yet to make findings of fact and conclusions of law, a successor judge must retry the case unless all parties consent to resolution based on the trial transcript or summary judgment would be appropriate (i.e., the trial transcript is treated as “supporting affidavits” and no credibility determinations are required for decision)); In re Schoenfield, 608 F.2d 930, 935 (2d Cir.1979) (stating the principle that the factfinder who is given the opportunity to observe witnesses as they testify is in a better position to make factual findings based on that evidence than is the factfinder who is restricted to a written record of the same testimony and affirming grant of new trial because credibility was at issue).

In the present case Judge Harrington presided over Petitioner’s PCR hearing. At no point during the hearing did Judge Harrington make any oral rulings regarding credibility findings, factual findings, or conclusions of law that a successor judge could potentially rely upon. Additionally, Judge Harrington failed to issue a written order containing the required findings of fact and conclusions of law required by S.C. Code §17-27-80 prior to her retirement. Therefore, as the case had commenced, but no final order or judgment had been issued, Rule 63, SCRCF, required that a successor judge be appointed. The successor judge was then required to comport with the requirements of the rule to certify familiarity with the record, determine possible prejudice to the parties, and recall witnesses as necessary. This did not happen in Petitioner’s case.

While Judge Dickson received the PCR transcript prior to signing the order of dismissal, there is no evidence that he *certified familiarity with all the transcripts and filings* in Petitioner's case as required by Rule 63, SCRCF. The e-mail provided by the State only confirms that Judge Dickson had the PCR transcript in his possession. Absent from the e-mail, but referenced in the order of dismissal, are the plea transcript, clerk of court records regarding Petitioner's conviction, Petitioner's records from SCDC, and the pleadings in the case. To begin to comport with Rule 63, SCRCF, the successor judge needed to certify familiarity with all of these documents, in a manner that made clear he had indeed reviewed the record in full, prior to issuing a ruling.

The failure to follow the strictures of Rule 63, SCRCF, was especially troublesome in Petitioner's case as the PCR hearing hinged on witness credibility. The order stated that "Counsel's testimony was credible and persuasive" and that "the credible testimony" supported dismissing Petitioner's claim of an involuntary guilty plea. App. 56-57. However, there was no way for the successor judge to have made these crucial credibility determinations based upon the written record.

Credibility findings are extremely important in the PCR setting especially considering that the appellate courts give great deference to a PCR court's credibility findings because *appellate court's lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses*. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999). It is essential that the judge who signs an order in a PCR action be the judge who observed the witnesses during the hearing because absent consent of the parties, a successor judge cannot make credibility determinations. Emerson Elec. Co. v. Gen. Elec. Co., 846 F.2d 1324, 1326 (11th Cir. 1988). If the original judge is no longer

available, then the requirements of Rule 63, SCRCPP, must be met. If those requirements are not met, or cannot be met, then a new hearing is required.

Notably, the two exceptions to Rule 63, SCRCPP, recognized by the appellate courts of this state in Christy, *supra*, do not apply in Petitioner's case. Had the successor judge certified familiarity with the record and determined that the proceedings could be completed without prejudice to the parties then with the consent of the parties the successor judge could have made findings of fact and conclusions of law based on the plea and PCR transcripts. However, there is no evidence in the record that the successor judge took those necessary steps nor that the parties consented to the successor judge making such findings. Additionally, there is nothing in the record showing the parties consented to the successor judge making the credibility determinations that are in the order of dismissal.

A fair reading of the records shows that Rule 63, SCRCPP, was not complied with in this case. The successor judge did not certify familiarity with the record and did not determine if the proceedings could be completed without prejudice to the parties. Furthermore, the successor judge improperly made credibility findings without the consent of the parties and without having the ability to observe the witnesses live testimony. These errors cannot be cured. Petitioner is entitled to a new PCR hearing.

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing, this Court should remand this case for a new PCR hearing.