RECEIVED

Aug 12 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition of _____
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
The Honorable Maite Murphy, Plea Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000788

ADRIENNE RANDOLPH, #366491,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
S.C. Bar No. 79054
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Petitioner’s argument that the circuit court judge erred by signing an order of dismissal, which he initialed on each page and which states he reviewed the testimony presented at the PCR evidentiary hearing prior to signing the order, is waived and wholly unpreserved for appellate review because Petitioner never presented any of his arguments to the circuit court judge he now accuses of improper conduct, thereby depriving Respondent of an opportunity to respond and the judge of an opportunity to rule on the issue, and there are no “extraordinary circumstances” to excuse the procedural default in this case.**

In this appeal Petitioner alleges for the first time that the successor PCR judge erred in signing the order of dismissal that made findings of fact, conclusions of law, and credibility determinations because the judge was a successor judge who did not preside over the PCR hearing and did not comply with the requirements of Rule 63, SCRPC, prior to signing the order. However, this objection was *never* raised to nor ruled upon by the successor post-conviction relief court, and Petitioner did not object to the submission of the order to the successor judge or the substantive contents of the order, nor did Petitioner file a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, once the order was signed and filed. Therefore, this issue is not properly before this Court because it was not preserved for appellate review, and this Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner failed to raise the Rule 63, SCRPC, argument to the PCR court in order to preserve this issue for appeal, either before or after the judge signed the order of dismissal. The pleading and issue-preservation requirements that apply in all civil cases apply to post-conviction relief. Mangal v. State, 421 S.C. 85, 97, 805 S.E.2d 568, 574 (2017). It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974). An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). Only a matter which has been ruled on below can be reviewed; otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. at 379, 204 S.E.2d at 729.

Moreover, if issues are not adequately addressed in an order, a Rule 59(e) motion must be filed in order to preserve the issues for appellate review. Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007). While this Court has relaxed Marlar's strict preservation requirement in recent years, it has done so mainly in cases in which the issue in question was raised in some fashion to the PCR court, but the PCR court failed to make appropriate findings in its order. For example, in Fishburne v. State, this Court excused Petitioner's procedural default and remanded the case back to the PCR court to make findings of fact and conclusions of law on an issue *duly raised to*, but not ruled on by the PCR court. 427 S.C. 505, 832 S.E.2d 584 (2019) (emphasis added). In Fishburne, one of the applicant's primary PCR claims was not addressed in the PCR court's order of dismissal, despite the fact that Fishburne raised the issue in both his application *and* at the evidentiary hearing. 427 S. C. at 510, 832 S.E.2d at 586. Although Fishburne failed to make a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion requesting the issue be ruled upon by the PCR court, this Court overlooked Fishburne's procedural default and remanded the case because the PCR court's order contained no findings of fact or conclusions of law on an issue which was *raised to it and heard at the evidentiary hearing*. 427 S. C. at 508, 832 S.E.2d at 585 (emphasis added).

In Mangal, this Court discussed in great detail circumstances in which this Court would consider excusing a procedural default and allowing review of a post-conviction relief claim. It noted: "There have been rare cases in which we have excused PCR applicants from procedural failures" 421 S.C. at 96, 805 S.E.2d at 573. This Court noted the excusal of a procedural default is an "extraordinary action." Id. at 96, 805 S.E.2d at 574. Significantly, Mangal is one of many cases in which the "extraordinary action" was *not* taken even though the issue was minimally addressed at the PCR hearing. This Court found the evidence presented by Mangal in support of excusing the procedural default did not justify the extraordinary relief. Id. at 101, 805 S.E.2d 576.

Like Mangal, Petitioner's case presents no extraordinary circumstance, and it is clearly distinguishable from Fishburne because the issue Petitioner raises on certiorari was never raised to the PCR court. Counsel for Petitioner was copied on the email communication with the judge's chambers sending the evidentiary hearing transcript and proposed order of dismissal to the successor judge. Am. App. p. 53. Petitioner's counsel never raised concerns about compliance with Rule 63, SCRPC, nor did he object to the successor judge making a ruling on the merits of Petitioner's allegation. Further, counsel for Petitioner was served with a copy of the filed Order of Dismissal and failed to move to alter or amend the Order of Dismissal pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, to address the issue now raised on appeal.

Petitioner was given ample opportunity to request witnesses be recalled or object to the manner in which the successor court was making its decision; however, Petitioner essentially consented to the procedure followed by the successor judge by failing to raise any objection to the Order of Dismissal either before or after it was filed. Thus, unlike the extraordinary circumstances in Fishburne—where Fishburne duly raised the issue in his PCR application and presented testimony at his evidentiary hearing, but the PCR court never ruled upon the issue—Petitioner has *never* raised this issue to the PCR court, and therefore deprived it of an opportunity to respond and rule.

While this Court has been flexible with procedural requirements to reach the merits of substantial claims, Petitioner needed to, at a minimum, ask the PCR court to consider his claim. Having failed to raise the issue at all, Petitioner cannot now ask this Court to grant her relief on a new issue. See Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center, Inc., 371 S.C. 123, 144, 634 S.E.2d 650, 661 (2006) (“Arguments not presented to nor ruled upon by trial court are not preserved for

appellate review.”). This is not a case justifying “extraordinary action.” Accordingly, this Court should not excuse the clear procedural default in this case and should deny certiorari.

II. The post-conviction relief judge properly signed the order of dismissal making findings of fact and conclusions of law where the successor judge properly certified the record was before him, Petitioner did not object or request that witnesses be recalled pursuant to Rule 63, SCRCP, and where the credibility of the witnesses was not dispositive to the allegation raised.

Petitioner alleges the PCR judge erred in signing the order of dismissal that made findings of fact, conclusions of law, and credibility determinations where the judge was a successor judge who did not preside over the PCR hearing and did not comply with the requirements of Rule 63, SCRCP, prior to signing the order. However, the successor PCR judge properly signed the order of dismissal making findings of fact and conclusions of law where he properly certified the record was before him, Petitioner did not request that the witnesses be recalled pursuant to Rule 63, SCRCP, in order to make credibility findings. Thus, Petitioner is not entitled to a new PCR hearing, and this Court should deny certiorari.

Judge Harrington presided over Petitioner’s evidentiary hearing and took the matter under advisement. Am. App. p. 51. Within a year after the hearing, Judge Harrington retired from the Circuit Court bench without issuing a ruling. Am. App. p. 53. Judge Dickson, Chief Administrative Judge for the First Circuit, subsequently reviewed the PCR transcript and the record. Am. App. pp. 53, 58. Judge Dickson signed an Order of Dismissal certifying that he reviewed the record and finding Petitioner’s request for relief should be denied. App. pp. 54-60. Counsel for Petitioner was copied on the email sending the PCR transcript to Judge Dickson for review, made no objections to Judge Dickson making a ruling based on the PCR transcript, and did not request that any witnesses be recalled. Am. App. p. 53.

First, Petitioner argues that the PCR court did not properly follow the requirements of Rule 63, SCRCP, by failing to certify familiarity with the record. However, this argument is directly refuted by the record. As specifically noted in the Order of Dismissal, the successor judge ruled after “[h]aving reviewed the pleadings, considered the applicable law, and reflected upon the plea transcript and testimony provided at the evidentiary hearing...” Am. App. p. 57. This language from the Order of Dismissal clearly indicates Judge Dickson was familiar with the record and reviewed it in making his decision on this matter. Although there was no specific language stating “familiarity with the record,” the above citation clearly shows the successor judge was familiar with the record in this matter.

Second, Petitioner argues that the successor PCR court did not follow the requirements of Rule 63, SCRCP, by failing to recall witnesses. However, the successor court did not need to recall witnesses where the court was able to review a copy of the PCR transcript and no request to recall witnesses was made by Petitioner’s counsel. Rule 63, SCRCP, states:

If at any time after a trial or hearing has been commenced, but before the final order or judgment has been issued, the judge is unable to proceed, a successor judge shall be assigned. The successor judge may proceed upon certifying familiarity with the record and determining that the proceedings may be completed without prejudice to the parties. In a hearing or a trial without a jury, the successor judge shall, at the request of a party, recall any witness whose testimony is material and disputed and who is available to testify without undue burden. A successor judge may also provide for the recall of any witnesses.

Rule 63, SCRCP.

Per the plain language of the rule, in a hearing without a jury the successor judge shall recall witnesses whose testimony is material *if a party makes the request to do so*. Counsel for Petitioner was copied on the email communication with the judge’s chambers where the evidentiary hearing transcript and the proposed Order of Dismissal was sent. Am. App. p. 53. Petitioner’s counsel made no request at that time for any witnesses to be recalled, nor did he make

any objection to the successor judge making a ruling on the merits of Petitioner's allegation on this basis. Am. App. p. 53. Further, counsel for Petitioner did not file any motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, challenging the ruling of the successor court. Petitioner was given ample opportunity to request witnesses be recalled or object to the manner in which the successor court was making its decision, and Petitioner failed to make any such objection or offer any reason as to why a request to recall witnesses could not have been made at the time.

Third, Petitioner argues the successor court made credibility findings where it should not have, without consent of the parties, and without having been present for the testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Petitioner's credibility argument relies on federal jurisprudence and South Carolina precedent predating the current version of Rule 63 in support of the contention that a new hearing should be held in order to make credibility findings. Petitioner cites to Henry A. Knott, Co v. Chesapeake & Potomac Telephone Co. of West Virginia, which held that

a successor judge simply cannot make credibility determinations based upon the record. A hearing *de novo* before a new successor master or before the district court must be conducted if the case requires the trier of fact to make credibility determinations concerning the testimony of witnesses; otherwise the parties' right to a full due process hearing would be severely undercut.

772 F.2d. 78, 85 (4th Cir. 1985).

Respondent agrees the language used by the successor judge was not ideal. However, Petitioner has failed to cite to any case law which requires a PCR judge to make credibility determinations in support of its ruling. Credibility determinations in PCR matters simply aid in strengthening a holding, but are in no way required for a court to come to a decision. Moreover, credibility determinations made by judges before whom the witnesses did not directly appear are not given deference on appeal, and the decision by the successor PCR court's decision denying relief is supported by the record even if the credibility determinations are completely removed

from consideration. See Cherry, 300 S.C. at 120, 386 S.E.2d at 626 (the PCR judge’s findings should be upheld if supported by any probative evidence); Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 592, 518 S.E.2d 265, 269 (1999) (“The PCR court reviewing the *trial* transcript is in no better position than we are to determine the credibility of trial witnesses or otherwise assess the strength of the State’s case; consequently, we give no deference to the PCR court’s credibility findings when we review the testimony of such witnesses. (emphasis added)).

The successor PCR court did not base its decision entirely on the credibility, or lack thereof, of the witnesses. In fact, although the successor judge found Counsel’s testimony credible, the ultimate finding regarding the voluntariness of the guilty plea rests primarily upon the record of the plea hearing and *Petitioner’s* testimony. Am. App. pp. 56-59. The successor judge found that *Petitioner* admitted she could have continued with the trial if desired after discussion with Counsel and her family; that Counsel made an appropriate recommendation to plead guilty based on the weight of the evidence against *Petitioner*; and *Petitioner* testified her will was not overborne by Counsel’s recommendation or the discussions with her family. App. pp. 49-50, 57-58.

Additionally, the successor judge relied upon the record of the guilty plea, stating, “the transcript reflects the guilty plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered with a full understanding of the charges and consequences of the plea.” Am. App. p. 57. *Petitioner* was under oath during her plea colloquy and told the plea court that she wanted to plead guilty; she understood she was waiving her right to a jury trial and all other rights associated with a jury trial; no one had threatened or coerced her into pleading guilty and she was pleading guilty of her own free-will; and she had enough time to make up her mind whether or not she wanted to plead guilty. Am. App. pp. 6-7, 9-11. Thus, the successor court’s finding that *Petitioner’s* plea was voluntarily given

is supported by the plea transcript and Petitioner's own testimony at the PCR hearing, and the decision to deny relief has evidentiary support independent of the improper credibility finding.

Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, Respondent seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.